Agenda - Culture, Welsh Language and
Communications Committee

Meeting Venue: For further information contact:
Committee Room 2 - The Senedd Steve George

Meeting date: 6 June 2018 Committee Clerk

Meeting time: 09.30 0300 200 6565

SeneddCWLC@assembly.wales

1

4.1

Introductions, apologies, substitutions and declarations of

interest

Film and major television production in Wales: Evidence Session

12

(09:30 - 10:30) (Pages 1 - 13)
Kelvin Guy, Founder and CEO of Carmarthen Bay Film Festival

Rahil Abbas Sayed, Director and co-founder of Cardiff International Film
Festival

Berwyn Rowlands, Festival Director, Iris Prize

Steve Swindon, CEO of Tape Community Music and Film (project lead for The

Coastline Film Festival)

Film and major television production in Wales: Evidence Session
13

(10:30 - 11:30) (Pages 14 - 19)
Simon Curtis, National and Regional Organiser, Wales and South West

England, Equity.
Paper(s) to note
Correspondence from Ofcom regarding representation and portrayal in the

BBC
(Pages 20 - 21)

,Ff Cynulliad National
/’ Cenedlaethol Assembly for

Cymru Wales



4.2

Correspondence from Ofcom regarding BBC Radio News opt-outs for Wales
(Pages 22 - 24)

Motion under Standing Order 17.42 to resolve to exclude the

public from the meeting for the following business:

Consideration of evidence
(11:30 - 12:00)



Agenda ltem 2

Document is Restricted

Pack Page 1



m@lan‘stemo@ymru / National Assembly for Wales

Pwyllgor Diwylliant, y Gymraeg a Chyfathrebu / The Culture, Welsh Language and
Communications Committee

Cynyrchiadau Ffilm a Theledu Mawr yng Nghymru / Film and Major TV Production
in Wales

CWLC(5) FILMTV20

Ymateb gan Equity / Evidence from Equity

Equity welcomes the inquiry launched by the committee into film and major
television production in Wales, in particular with regards to greater clarity on the
Welsh Government’s policy aims for funding productions and for greater
transparency as to the benefits to our members living in Wales.

Equity represents actors, singers, dancers, variety artists, stunt performers and a
range of other creative professionals. Our 42,000 members work across all areas
of the live arts and in film, television, the music and video games industries and
radio. We also have almost 5,000 Student and Graduate members who are looking
to enter the industry in the next few years. Almost 1,600 Equity members live in
Wales, of whom around a third we believe to be Welsh Speakers.

Equity must note its disappointment that once again the voice of the workforce
and on-screen talent was not deemed a representative stakeholder when the
committee held its informal roundtable event to inform its inquiry. Our members
have a direct interest in the creative industries in Wales and across the UK and our
members feel that Equity should have stakeholder status in partnership with all
interested parties.

Transparency and Accountability

When the BBC announced the start of filming on the new production of ‘Requiem’
in Newport the press release contained a quote from the Economy Secretary Ken
Skates:

Our growing success in the TV and film production industry is helping to promote
Wales globally and highlight the talent and skills base that we have here.
Attracting productions of this calibre to Wales is a sector priority and brings direct
and indirect benefits to the economy, to local communities and to the film and TV
sector. http.//www.bbc.co.uk/mediacentre/latestnews/2017/requiem

Equity is fully supportive of this kind of investment in the creative industries, an
industry which in 2016 was worth £92bn to the economy of the UK
(https://www.gov.uk/government/news/creativeindustries-record-contribution-
to-uk-economy) and is one of the fastest growing sectors in Wales.

Pack Page 14


http://www.bbc.co.uk/mediacentre/latestnews/2017/requiem
http://www.bbc.co.uk/mediacentre/latestnews/2017/requiem
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/creative-industries-record-contribution-to-uk-economy
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/creative-industries-record-contribution-to-uk-economy
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/creative-industries-record-contribution-to-uk-economy
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/creative-industries-record-contribution-to-uk-economy

(http://gov.wales /topics /businessandeconomy/our-priority-sectors/creative-
industries/?lang=en)

But this support has to guarantee a benefit to the talent within Wales and not just
act as a location for productions to ‘lift and shift’ from other locations in the rest
of the UK. When announcing the Welsh Government support to the Channel 4
Drama ‘Kiri’ the Culture Minister was quoted as saying: During 2018 we will work
hard to build on this successful record and continue to build Wales’ reputation as
a premium filming location with much to offer. It is not enough, in our opinion, for
Wales to simply be a filming location - if there is truly to be a thriving film and
television industry in Wales then it has to be more than providing a backdrop for
productions made by companies from outside Wales. They must also make
commitments to a substantive base in Wales, the development of skills and talent
alongside a proportion of production spend, which must include front of camera
talent.

This investment strategy also seems at odds with the Welsh Government’s
programme for Government ‘Taking Wales Forward’ which sets out the ambition
for the future of work in Wales including the development of skills and careers for
life enhancing work. It is also, in our opinion, at odds with some aspects of the
Well being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015.

If we look at the three specific examples of the investment in ‘Requiem’, ‘Kiri’ and
also Bad Wolf as a production company and look at the on screen talent in the
productions, alongside the opportunities made available to our members living in
Wales during the casting process, it does not, we believe, fit the commitment to
‘highlight the talent and skills base that we have here’.

For ‘Requiem’ we have undertaken some initial research into the core cast, i.e.
those characters that appeared in more than 4 episodes of the 6 part series. This
shows that over 75% percent of the actors are based outside of Wales. When we
look anecdotally at the opportunities offered through Wales based agents to Wales
based actors we find that there were limited casting opportunities offered, with
minimal success, and when they did have to attend casting sessions with the
producers and casting director they had to travel to London to audition. Some were
auditioned in Cardiff and some were asked to submit ‘Self taped’ auditions for
consideration but again there was minimalm if any, success in the process. When
we undertake the same exercise on ‘Kiri’ and characters appearing in more than 2
episodes of the 4 part series 100% of them are based outside of Wales. Equity is

Pack Page 15


http://gov.wales/topics/businessandeconomy/our-priority-sectors/creative-industries/?lang=en
http://gov.wales/topics/businessandeconomy/our-priority-sectors/creative-industries/?lang=en
http://gov.wales/topics/businessandeconomy/our-priority-sectors/creative-industries/?lang=en
http://gov.wales/topics/businessandeconomy/our-priority-sectors/creative-industries/?lang=en

told anecdotally by Wales based agents that almost none of their Wales based
clients were invited to casting by the Casting Director. The percentage and
opportunities were the same for Bad Wolf’s production of ‘A Discovery of Witches’.

Equity has long argued about the practice of not casting productions in the area in
which the production is being filmed and these arguments date back to the lack of
casting facilities at the Roath Lock studios where Doctor Who and Casualty are
both regularly cast at BBC Elstree rather than in the location of filming. It shows an
unwillingness to explore the talent in the production base, and the financial
commitment required by actors to travel, often at short notice and at peak times,
provides an economic barrier that does not always enable people to fulfil their
potential no matter their background or circumstances (including their socio
economic background and circumstances). (Well being of Future Generations
(Wales) Act 2015).

Equity would argue that if a production is to be filmed here that it should bring
opportunities to the talent and skills base that choose to live within Wales,
especially when productions are receiving Welsh Government funding or loans. We
must be clear, however, that we are not being parochial and looking for all
productions that are made in Wales to feature only actors that reside here - that is
impractical and also at odds with us being a UK-wide Trade Union. What we are
saying is that companies should be required under the terms of the investment
from Welsh Government to not only spend a proportion of their production budget
here but also to fully investigate through working with Wales based Casting
Directors and Line Producers/Assistant Directors the talent that resides here. We
are told that most productions employ a London based Casting Director who will
have limited knowledge of what is available and will often not hold castings locally
to explore this fully. We are therefore looking for a condition of investment to be
that Local talent is given an opportunity to audition and for that audition to be
held in the area of the production base.

It is Equity policy, through our Manifesto for Casting, to give all talented
performers a chance to excel, regardless of their age, gender, ethnicity, sexuality
or socioeconomic background. It also underscores that actors should not be forced
to move to London to pursue their careers, or give up their ambitions when they
assume caring responsibilities. The campaign aims to widen the net and open up
opportunities for all parties: performers, casting directors, agents and audiences.
Our General Secretary Christine Payne is quoted: Our industries will only thrive by

Pack Page 16



attracting and retaining professional talent regardless of background or
circumstances, to meet the ever growing demands for audio and audio-visual
content on stage, on screen, online and on demand. This manifesto will be used by
the union to seek that changes that will ensure the continued success of our
creative industries. https://www.equity.org.uk/documents/manifesto-for-casting/

Productions have to provide a commitment to develop local talent, as the BBC do
with the BBC Writers Room, and we have to look at what else is on offer to the
other talents required for a sustainable film and television industry. One of the
obstacles faced over recent years has been the Ofcom definition of nations and
regions content. Currently the UK Parliament requires Ofcom to determine that a
suitable proportion of programmes made by licensees should be made outside the
M25 (‘out of London’). In order to count towards the regional production quota,
productions must meet two out of the following three criteria:

1. The production company must have a substantive business and production
based in the UK outside the M25;

2. At least 70% of the production budget (excluding the cost of on-screen talent,
archive material, sports rights, competition prize-money and copyright costs)
must be spent in the UK outside the M25; and

3. At least 50% of the production talent (i.e. not on-screen talent) by cost must
have their usual place of employment in the UK outside the M25.

The purpose of requiring relevant productions to comply with two out of the three
criteria, we are told, is to provide ‘flexibility for producers to use some London-
based resources, without thwarting the policy objectives of the statute, which is to
buttress and strengthen regional production in the UK’. Ofcom has decided to
exclude on-screen talent from the criteria, the purpose of this approach being ‘to
ensure that the quotas remain focused on regionally-based production expertise
rather than more mobile on-screen talent and, importantly, to avoid the quotas
being skewed by the significant cost of on-screen talent in some productions
(including, but not limited to, drama productions).” What this approach fails to
address is that there is on-screen regionally-based production expertise housed in
the regions and nations who choose to live and work there. We are encouraged,
however, that Ofcom have recently put a call out for evidence into a review of
Regional

Pack Page 17


https://www.equity.org.uk/documents/manifesto-for-casting/
https://www.equity.org.uk/documents/manifesto-for-casting/

TV Production and they will be looking specifically at these criteria.
https://www.ofcom.orqg.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0013/112315/call-evidence-
regional-productionreview.pdf

Our final point would be that regardless of the Ofcom definitions and guidelines
the inclusion of Welsh Government funding should mean that the requirements are
higher and absolute. Broadcasters, in particular, have already made that
commitment to greater production in the Regions and Nations and if they are also
receiving funding to be here it should also look to increase the representation of
the nation on screen.

The Welsh Government’s priority is therefore to provide the support and guidance
to ensure that no talent is unfulfilled and no marketable creative idea is wasted.
Creative Industries Sector Panel Chair, Ron Jones.

http://gov.wales /topics/businessandeconomy/our-priority-sectors/creative-

industries/?lang=en

Provision for Equality and Diversity

In May 2016 Diverse Cymru were commissioned by the Welsh Government to do a
body of research on Equality and Diversity in Film and Television in Wales. Equity
were involved alongside other Stakeholders in this subject and the final report
‘Rewriting the Script’ included a number of recommendations to the Welsh
Government as a first stage to making a real difference across the entire sector.
https://www.diversecymru.org.uk/rewriting-the-script/ There should be

transparency, and a commitment from every company invested in that they will
seek to increase this diversity by following guidance put in place based on these
recommendations. This is, as we’ve already mentioned, part of the Well being of
Future Generations Act and therefore already Welsh Government policy.

Eradicating Bullying and Harassment

Following on from the revelations of sexual harassment and bullying within
industry and institutions we have to recognise the toxic culture that allows this to
thrive. Equity has published its ‘Agenda for Change’ to demand a safe working
environment where our members will not have to endure or observe bullying or
harassment and where perpetrators understand there is nowhere to hide.

https://www.equity.org.uk/documents/agenda-for-change-report/

Pack Page 18


https://www.ofcom.org.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0013/112315/call-evidence-regional-production-review.pdf
https://www.ofcom.org.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0013/112315/call-evidence-regional-production-review.pdf
https://www.ofcom.org.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0013/112315/call-evidence-regional-production-review.pdf
https://www.ofcom.org.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0013/112315/call-evidence-regional-production-review.pdf
http://gov.wales/topics/businessandeconomy/our-priority-sectors/creative-industries/?lang=en
http://gov.wales/topics/businessandeconomy/our-priority-sectors/creative-industries/?lang=en
http://gov.wales/topics/businessandeconomy/our-priority-sectors/creative-industries/?lang=en
https://www.diversecymru.org.uk/rewriting-the-script/
https://www.diversecymru.org.uk/rewriting-the-script/
https://www.equity.org.uk/documents/agenda-for-change-report/
https://www.equity.org.uk/documents/agenda-for-change-report/

Equity would like to see the Welsh Government attach a condition to the funding of
Film and Television productions that there is a firm commitment to recognise their
duty of care with regards to preventing bullying and harassment in the workplace,
and ensuring they provide policies upon receipt of funding which show their
dignity at work policies to guarantee the creation of a safe working space.

Equity would be more than willing to give further oral evidence should the
opportunity arise during the course of your consultation.

Pack Page 19



Agenda Iltem 4.1 OFcom

making communications work

for everyone

Bethan Sayed AM Sharon White
hief Executi

Culture, Welsh Language and Communications Committee Chiel Executive
National Assembly for Wales Direct Telephone +44 (0}20 7981 3520
Cardiff Bay Direct Facsimile +44 (0}20 7981 3504
Cardiff sharon.white@ofcom.org.uk
CF99 1NA
17 May 2018

Oovr  Behann

Thank you for your letter dated 3 May 2018 regarding the thematic review of representation and
portrayal in the BBC. | recognise the significance of the issues you raise and the importance of
accurate representation and authentic portrayal of communities in Wales.

J

Your recommendations include new, measurable targets for Welsh representation in the BBC. The
operating licence for the BBC's UK public services, issued by Ofcom in October 2017, includes quotas
for the share of the BBC's budget spent in each of the UK's nations and for the first time introduces
matching quotas for the proportion of hours of content made in each nation. Decisions about the
location or approach taken by the BBC's commissioning teams are operational matters which are not
within Ofcom’s remit.

Your letter raises concerns around the coverage of Welsh issues on BBC news. The BBC's news
agenda and editorial decisions around news and current affairs are not within the scope of this
review, and indeed are not within Ofcom’s remit. Issues surrounding due accuracy and due
impartiality of news and current affairs are covered in Ofcom’s Broadcasting Code. The primary aim
of our review is to consider who appears on screen and how they are portrayed. We will do this by
seeking people’s views on how they and their communities are represented and portrayed by the
BBC. This may raise issues related to news coverage in the nations, and we will reflect these issues in
the review’s findings. While focused on television, we expect our findings will bear relevance across
all platforms, including radio.

I note your call for Wales to be included as one of the “different groups” about which we will gather
qualitative and quantitative data. Our consumer research programme will include views from people
from a wide range of backgrounds and communities, from a range of locations across the nations.
We have held research groups in Swansea, Aberystwyth and Conwy to ensure our selection of
locations in Wales provides an appropriate diversity of views.

Regarding the BBC’s decision to reinstate the post of BBC Director of Nations and Regions, we are
unable to launch an investigation into this as BBC governance issues are not within Ofcom’s remit.

Office of Communications | Riverside House | Telephone +44 (0}20 7981 3000
Pack Page»2@ark sridge Road or +44 (0)300 123 3000

| London SE1 gHA Facsimile +44 (0)20 7981 3333
! | www.ofcom.org.uk



I hope you find this information useful. My team will be happy to discuss the findings of the thematic
review with you and the Committee following its publication.

Yours sincggely,

Sharon White

Pack Page 21



Agenda Item 4.2
OfFcom

L =—p e ——
sicrhau bod cyfathrebiadau’'n
gweithio i bawb

Our Reference: 20180515

Bethan Sayed AM

National Assembly for Wales
Cardiff

CF99 1NA

29 May 2018

Dear Bethan,

BBC Radio News opt-outs for Wales

Thank you for your letter of 4 May regarding recent BBC evidence to the Culture, Welsh
Language and Communications Committee, on the feasibility of providing Welsh opt-outs on
Radio 1 and Radio 2 FM services. Sharon White has asked me to respond while she is away
from the office.

Ofcom does not have sight of the technical and operational constraints on the BBC'’s
networks. This means the BBC is best placed to provide detailed comments on the technical
feasibility of proposed opt-outs on its FM services.

Ofcom’s role is to licence all UK BBC services which includes providing details of the
transmitter masts and power levels that the BBC’s radio services are permitted to use.
Ofcom also allocated and coordinates the radio spectrum used by both commercial and BBC
radio services.

The main BBC FM transmitter serving south, and south-east Wales is the main Wenvoe
mast near Cardiff. As the BBC set out, this transmitter does also serve significant areas of
south-west England. Most listeners in these areas do not have access to alternative BBC FM
signals from transmitters located in England. Therefore, if the Wenvoe mast were to carry
Welsh opt-outs, Welsh services would also be received by listeners in English areas.

An alternative approach could be to set up additional transmissions at the Wenvoe mast
carrying English versions of Radio 1 and Radio 2. However, FM frequencies are already
used very intensively, and no suitable frequencies are available to carry extra transmissions
which would be needed to serve English areas which currently receive signals from Wenvoe.

The BBC is best placed to provide the Committee with detailed geographic and population
coverage data for their own FM services. However, | have enclosed a public coverage map
for the Wenvoe FM transmitter which was produced by the BBC in the 1980s. While some of
the detail shown on this map has evolved since the map was produced, such as additional
smaller masts, the broad picture of Wenvoe’s coverage area remains valid.

In terms of digital radio, the BBC’s UK-wide radio services are all carried on a single radio
network across the UK. The content carried by each transmitter in this network must be
identical to avoid interference with other transmitter sites. There is not capacity on the BBC'’s
multiplex to carry both English and Welsh opts of the Radio 1 and 2 services.

I hope this information is helpful.

Pack Page 22



Kevin Bakhurst

Group Director, Content and Media Policy

Pack Page 23



@y
LB 3 ENGINEERING INFORMATION &

LR

WENVOE FM RADIO

Radio 1 99.5 MHz

Radio 2 89.9 MHz

Radio 3 92.1 MHz

Radio 4 94.3 MHz

Radio Cymru 96.8 MHz

Power (Max erp) 250 kW

Polarisation mixed

Mean ht. of aerial 200m agl, 329m aod
Transmitter site Wenvoe, South Glamorgan
National Grid Reference ST 110742

Key : Service area
. Relay station A

N ‘1 § /
A LLANIDLOES“ ¢ b (

~
T

0 10 20 30 km

(S
10 20 miles; DTV )
\ \ Kidderminster

eLudlow ~ J 1jnater
( Kf ghtnn\-)..r-’ N @ Bromsgrove 5
)LLANDFHNDOD \P MR e ol
New Aberaeron ( WELLSA o] resteigne .DroitwichH

Quay i
J l’.ngton
@ Builth )

elLeominster
Worcester ) °

i p Stratford-
oCardigan ®Lampeter "a ® Wells ‘.Great upon- Avon
Llianwrtyd 'Malvern e,
eNewcastle Well @ Hay-on- Hereford .Eveshi’m
Emlyn f, 5 Wye Ledbury{ \') ~
~
° Llasndovery ABHECDN b) e A ® Tewkesbury )
(\ . e Chipping
ellandeilo § 2 R\( Ross-0n- Norton®
ACARMARTHEN S N Wye ) (_ (Ghelenham ¢

/ !
eNarberth Ammanf%dCARMEL EBBWABEiGAVENNY ‘Monmout‘h y v G'““““?{\ /

. Merthyrly o g~
e VARLTEGA ik F?LIYMNEYAA ABLAENAVON ' L WitnSy

Blirry e oL| M] Negth ABERDAREA ~_ MABERTILLERY} CHALFORDA eCirencester |
Port 14\ Rhondda‘f~ PONTYPOOB ANAILSWORTH L d

CROESER N Y
s“,,ns "TON PENTF!E Cwbran ®Chepstow s\ S
( ’KILVE @%’laesteg ALORU1 FENROH 1ra Jﬂa'm‘g'ﬁbu"v (
HILL Fon: > Bridgend aerphilly 5 c VP2 e Swindon
Talbok s~ 8 T .' : Tl T,
\_ WENVOE g Cardiff \ N
Cowbridge® A ILCHESTER‘ A IPPENHAM
Penarth ‘CRESCENT’ W
\ ®calne e

Barr
L ‘BATH R Veriborcugh
A4 eDevizes ('

weswvooo

\’S;,I\Jt/-\" ‘o'ﬂ'owbndma ,_J"
Speel OME g

Wells® Maﬂ'et ~ @Warminster 3

B{? waterg ;tGr;aeitonF:urv { L ?
Wllton o Salisbury

Weston-super-

Mare n [t

Minehead

o~

-\
BARNSTAPLE™ ? -
®Bi S Taunton
Bideford g Tau
{ ®Wellington T If 5 .Sﬁaftef_gburv -
2 Jiminster ‘ ISh‘?Jorne y \
®Tiverton \lﬂmln““ . // ?
1 ® .Crewkerne / C
\-'\,_C,Q d\ 3 f
OHoniton) i

The service area is where the average field strength is not less than 54 dB (relative to 1uV/m) at a height of 10m.
l The service areas of the relays are not shown but technical details are listed overleaf.

Notes

Sensitive radios may work beyond the area shown particularly on high ground.

54 dB field strength produces typically 300 pV terminated signal using a two element aerial and 15m of coaxial
downlead. (A top quality receiver requires 200 uV for 60 dB S/N.)

Padr'Pa’gE 24
BBC ENGINEERING INFORMATION, BROADCASTING HOUSE, LONDON W1A 1AA = 0345010313
(Local call rate)

Information Sheet 1907(11)9011



	Agenda
	2 Film and major television production in Wales: Evidence Session 12
	3 Film and major television production in Wales: Evidence Session 13
	4.1 Correspondence from Ofcom regarding representation and portrayal in the BBC
	4.2 Correspondence from Ofcom regarding BBC Radio News opt-outs for Wales
	Paper 3a


